Company Registration No. 07726343 (England and Wales)
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2023
31 December 2023
PM+M Solutions for Business LLP
Chartered Accountants
New Century House
Greenbank Technology Park
Challenge Way
Blackburn
Lancashire
BB1 5QB
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
COMPANY INFORMATION
Directors
Mrs C Andersonschoepe
Mr R Andersonschoepe
Company number
07726343
Registered office
Opella Ltd Twyford Road
Rotherwas Industrial Estate
Hereford
HR2 6JR
Auditor
PM+M Solutions for Business LLP
New Century House
Greenbank Technology Park
Challenge Way
Blackburn
Lancashire
BB1 5QB
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
CONTENTS
Page
Strategic report
1 - 3
Directors' report
4 - 5
Independent auditor's report
6 - 9
Group statement of comprehensive income
10
Group balance sheet
11
Company balance sheet
12
Group statement of changes in equity
13
Company statement of changes in equity
14
Group statement of cash flows
15
Notes to the financial statements
16 - 34
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 1 -

The directors present the strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the group continued to be that of the manufacture and distribution of plumbing products. The company's principal activity is that of a holding company.

Review of the business

There was a slight increase in the group’s revenue from prior year primarily due to overall price increases and the impact from foreign exchange translation. Profitability has remained consistent with the prior year due to increased gross profit driven by savings in material purchase costs and improved absorption offset by the impact of hyperinflation in Turkey of £2,063,858 in 2023 (2022 - £523,386).

Principal risks and uncertainties

The business and its adopted strategies are subject to certain risks, including increasing overseas competition, product liability, the self‑insurance of product liability (see note 24) and rising commodity and labor costs. Continued capital investment, the adoption of more modern manufacturing techniques and further product development will help to mitigate these risks.

The group operates internationally across a wide spread of geographical markets. The group must maintain good customer relations, with product quality and service of paramount importance, in order to maintain and grow market share.

The group trades in four main currencies: Pounds Sterling, US Dollars, Euros and Turkish Lira. The group is therefore exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rates of these currencies.

Key performance indicators

The board monitors progress in achieving the overall strategy by reference to the following KPIs. Performance in the period, together with historical data is set out in the table below:

| 2023 | 2022 |  | Definition and method of calculation
Sales growth/(contraction) | 0.80% | 9.70% |  | Period on period growth as a %
Operating (loss)/income expressed as a % | 8.50% | 6.40% |  | Ratio of operating profit to sales

Other information and explanations

Future outlook

Further growth is envisaged as markets, both in the UK and overseas, continue to recover, as new products are introduced and new customers gained and as our acquisitions contribute to the success of the group.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 2 -

Going concern

The group has expanded through a number of acquisitions in recent years which have been funded by the ultimate parent company (Fluidmaster Inc.) through intercompany balances. This funding has no formal repayment terms and has therefore been classified as falling due within one year in the consolidated and company balance sheets. The amount due from the group to the ultimate parent company was £60.8m and the amount due from the company to the ultimate parent company was £73.0m at 31 December 2023.

The Board of Directors has undertaken a recent thorough review of the group’s budgets and forecasts and has produced detailed and realistic cash flow projections. The company has continued support from the Group and ultimate parent company Fluidmaster, Inc and the ultimate parent company has provided written confirmation that it will provide financial support, if required, to enable the company to meet its liabilities as the fall due for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements. There is worldwide group line credit facility of $104.3M, of which $97.5M remains unused. This level of cash and support is considered enough to meet the worst case stress test scenario, whereby trading cash flows are reduced, despite the current increased demand. These cash flow projections, when considered in conjunction with the company’s existing cash balances and support from the group, demonstrate that the company has sufficient working capital for the foreseeable future.

The directors of the ultimate parent company recognise that the group (and company) is not able to continue to trade and pay its debts as they fall due for payment unless these intercompany balances are retained and / or alternative funding is put in place. Therefore the ultimate parent company has provided the directors of the company with written confirmation that: (1) Repayment of the intercompany balances noted above will be not requested for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements unless the group has sufficient financial resources available to make full or partial repayments and (2) Any financial support required to enable the group (and company) to continue to trade and pay debts as they fall due for payment will be made available to the group (and company) by the ultimate parent company for a period of not less than 12 months from the date of signing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023. However, it is noted that this support has not been provided in the form of a legally binding arrangement and therefore is at the discretion of the ultimate parent company.

The lack of a legally binding commitment from the ultimate parent company is not considered by the directors to indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 3 -
Promoting the success of the company

Introduction

As directors of Fluidmaster UK Limited, we are dedicated to promoting the success of the group for the benefit of its members as a whole, while considering the interests of our stakeholders. This statement outlines how we have fulfilled our duties under Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006.

Long-term Decision Making

We prioritise sustainable growth and innovation. Our strategic decisions, such as investing in advanced technologies and expanding our service offerings, are made with a long-term perspective to ensure Fluidmaster UK Limited’s continued success and competitiveness in the plumbing products sector.

Employee Interests

Our employees are our greatest asset. We have implemented comprehensive training programs, competitive compensation packages, and a supportive work environment to foster their growth and well-being. Regular feedback sessions and employee surveys help us understand and address their needs.

Business Relationships

Maintaining strong relationships with our suppliers, customers, and partners is crucial. We engage in regular dialogue with our key stakeholders to ensure mutual benefits and address any concerns promptly. Our customer centric approach drives us to continuously improve our products and services.

Community and Environment

We are committed to minimizing our environmental impact and contributing positively to the communities we operate in. Our sustainability initiatives include reducing carbon emissions, promoting recycling, and supporting local community projects. We also adhere to ethical sourcing practices.

High Standards and Business Conduct

Integrity and transparency are at the core of our business conduct. We have robust governance frameworks and compliance programs in place to ensure we operate ethically and in accordance with all relevant laws and regulations. Our Code of Conduct guides our employees in maintaining high standards of professionalism.

Fair Treatment of Members

We strive to act fairly between members of the group. Our communication with shareholders is transparent and timely, ensuring they are well-informed about the group’s performance and strategic direction. We encourage active shareholder engagement and consider their feedback in our decision-making processes.

Conclusion

In fulfilling our duties under Section 172, we remain dedicated to balancing the interests of our stakeholders while driving the long-term success of Fluidmaster UK Limited. We believe that this approach not only benefits our members but also contributes to the broader societal good.

On behalf of the board

Mr R Andersonschoepe
Director
14 October 2025
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 4 -

The directors present their annual report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out on page 10.

No ordinary dividends were paid. The directors do not recommend payment of a further dividend.

Directors

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signature of the financial statements were as follows:

Mrs C Andersonschoepe
Mr WE Oppenlander
(Resigned 28 July 2023)
Mr R Andersonschoepe

Directors indemnities

The company maintains liability insurance for its directors and officers. Following shareholder approval the company has also provided an indemnity for its directors and the secretary, which is a qualifying third party indemnity provision for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006.

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

The company has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors during the year. These provisions remain in force at the reporting date. Following shareholder approval the company has also provided an indemnity for its directors and the secretary, which is a qualifying third party indemnity provision for the purposes of the Companies Act 2006.

Financial instruments
Financial risk management

The risks facing the company are assessed on an on‑going basis. The directors evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of each risk and ensure appropriate action is taken. A number of key risks such as liquidity, interest rates, currency fluctuations, credit management, capital expenditure, insurance, health and safety and regulatory compliance come under the direct control of the directors.

Disabled persons

The group is committed to a policy of recruitment and promotion on the basis of aptitude and ability without discrimination of any kind. Management actively pursues both the employment of disabled persons whenever a suitable vacancy arises and the continued employment and retraining of employees who become disabled whilst employed by the group. Particular attention is given to the training, career development and promotion of disabled employees with a view to encouraging them to play an active role in the development of the group.

Employee involvement

The group places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has a policy of keeping them informed on matters affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the group.

Energy and carbon report

As the company has not consumed more than 40,000 kWh of energy in this reporting period, it qualifies as a low energy user under these regulations and is not required to report on its emissions, energy consumption or energy efficiency activities.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 5 -
Statement of directors' responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and company, and of the profit or loss of the group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the group and company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the group’s and company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the group and company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Statement of disclosure to auditor

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditor of the company is unaware. Additionally, the directors individually have taken all the necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of all relevant audit information and to establish that the auditor of the company is aware of that information.

On behalf of the board
Mr R Andersonschoepe
Director
14 October 2025
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
- 6 -
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Fluidmaster UK Limited (the 'parent company') and its subsidiaries (the 'group') for the year ended 31 December 2023 which comprise the group statement of comprehensive income, the group balance sheet, the company balance sheet, the group statement of changes in equity, the company statement of changes in equity, the group statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the group's and the parent company's affairs as at 31 December 2023 and of the group's profit for the year then ended;

- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit:

- T he information given in the strategic report and the directors' r eport for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

- The strategic report and the directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
TO THE MEMBERS OF FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
- 7 -
Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identifie d material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors' r eport.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

- the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or

- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors' r esponsibilities s tatement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and then design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, including obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The group engagement team shared this risk assessment with the component auditors so that they could include appropriate audit procedures in response to such risks in their work.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
TO THE MEMBERS OF FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
- 8 -

Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we have considered the following:

- the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the Group's remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;

- results of our enquiries of management about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities;

- the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud;

- a ny matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group's documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:

  - identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;

  - detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

  - the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: timing of recognition of commercial income, posting of unusual journals and complex transactions; and manipulating the Group's performance profit measures and other key performance indicators to meet remuneration targets and externally communicated targets. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the Group operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this context included UK Companies Act, employment law, health and safety regulations, pensions legislation and tax legislation.

Audit response to risks identified

Our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

- reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

- enquiring of management concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;

- enquiring of component auditors regarding non-compliance with laws and regulations;

- performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

- reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and reviewing correspondence with HMRC; and

- in addressing the identified risks of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations (irregularities) is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it. In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
TO THE MEMBERS OF FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
- 9 -

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Daniel Bowles BFP ACA FCCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of PM+M Solutions for Business LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants
New Century House
Greenbank Technology Park
Challenge Way
Blackburn
Lancashire
BB1 5QB
14 October 2025
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 10 -
2023
2022
Notes
£
£
Turnover
3
96,952,386
96,223,101
Cost of sales
(65,960,353)
(69,734,456)
Gross profit
30,992,033
26,488,645
Distribution costs
(11,116,191)
(10,315,805)
Administrative expenses
(11,803,177)
(10,398,259)
Other operating income
191,771
404,613
Operating profit
6
8,264,436
6,179,194
Interest receivable and similar income
7
235,934
350,975
Interest payable and similar expenses
9
(2,268,458)
(2,398,204)
Profit before taxation
6,231,912
4,131,965
Tax on profit
10
(2,162,907)
(1,949,520)
Profit for the financial year
23
4,069,005
2,182,445
Other comprehensive income
Currency translation (loss)/gain taken to retained earnings
(3,077,791)
2,310,479
Total comprehensive income for the year
991,214
4,492,924
Profit for the financial year is all attributable to the owners of the parent company.
Total comprehensive income for the year is all attributable to the owners of the parent company.
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
GROUP BALANCE SHEET
AS AT
31 DECEMBER 2023
31 December 2023
- 11 -
2023
2022
Notes
£
£
£
£
Fixed assets
Goodwill
11
7,940,681
9,688,594
Other intangible assets
11
1,399,431
1,552,637
Total intangible assets
9,340,112
11,241,231
Tangible assets
12
13,928,069
12,348,490
Investments
13
21,123
21,528
23,289,304
23,611,249
Current assets
Stocks
15
17,306,788
22,362,619
Debtors
16
22,683,063
22,084,343
Cash at bank and in hand
7,279,737
4,851,581
47,269,588
49,298,543
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
17
(86,723,182)
(88,648,134)
Net current liabilities
(39,453,594)
(39,349,591)
Total assets less current liabilities
(16,164,290)
(15,738,342)
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
18
(4,013,639)
(5,368,487)
Provisions for liabilities
Provisions
19
841,342
903,656
Deferred tax liability
20
385,440
385,440
(1,226,782)
(1,289,096)
Net liabilities
(21,404,711)
(22,395,925)
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
22
1
1
Share premium account
23
5,884,499
5,884,499
Profit and loss reserves
23
(27,289,211)
(28,280,425)
Total equity
(21,404,711)
(22,395,925)
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 14 October 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
14 October 2025
Mr R Andersonschoepe
Director
Company registration number 07726343 (England and Wales)
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
31 December 2023
- 12 -
2023
2022
Notes
£
£
£
£
Fixed assets
Investments
13
60,685,924
60,685,924
60,685,924
60,685,924
Current assets
Debtors
16
2,559,752
2,461,823
Cash at bank and in hand
34,933
1,436,488
2,594,685
3,898,311
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
17
(62,784,522)
(64,722,564)
Net current liabilities
(60,189,837)
(60,824,253)
Net assets/(liabilities)
496,087
(138,329)
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
22
1
1
Share premium account
23
5,884,499
5,884,499
Profit and loss reserves
23
(5,388,413)
(6,022,829)
Total equity
496,087
(138,329)

As permitted by s408 Companies Act 2006, the c ompany has not presented its own profit and loss account and related notes. The c ompany’s profit for the year was £634,416 (2022 - £67,187 loss).

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 14 October 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
14 October 2025
Mr R Andersonschoepe
Director
Company registration number 07726343 (England and Wales)
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 13 -
Share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss reserves
Total
£
£
£
£
Balance at 1 January 2022
1
5,884,499
(32,773,349)
(26,888,849)
Year ended 31 December 2022:
Profit for the year
-
-
2,182,445
2,182,445
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences
-
-
2,310,479
2,310,479
Total comprehensive income
-
-
4,492,924
4,492,924
Balance at 31 December 2022
1
5,884,499
(28,280,425)
(22,395,925)
Year ended 31 December 2023:
Profit for the year
-
-
4,069,005
4,069,005
Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences
-
-
(3,077,791)
(3,077,791)
Total comprehensive income
-
-
991,214
991,214
Balance at 31 December 2023
1
5,884,499
(27,289,211)
(21,404,711)
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 14 -
Share capital
Share premium account
Profit and loss reserves
Total
£
£
£
£
Balance at 1 January 2022
1
5,884,499
(5,955,642)
(71,142)
Year ended 31 December 2022:
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year
-
-
(67,187)
(67,187)
Balance at 31 December 2022
1
5,884,499
(6,022,829)
(138,329)
Year ended 31 December 2023:
Profit and total comprehensive income
-
-
634,416
634,416
Balance at 31 December 2023
1
5,884,499
(5,388,413)
496,087
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 15 -
2023
2022
Notes
£
£
£
£
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
29
11,285,158
8,865,393
Interest paid
(2,268,458)
(2,398,204)
Income taxes paid
(2,208,255)
(1,914,247)
Net cash inflow from operating activities
6,808,445
4,552,942
Investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets
(10,605)
(33,545)
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
(4,605,618)
(3,292,226)
Proceeds from disposal of tangible fixed assets
-
115,884
Interest received
235,934
350,975
Net cash used in investing activities
(4,380,289)
(2,858,912)
Financing activities
Payment of finance leases obligations
-
(108,642)
Net cash used in financing activities
-
(108,642)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
2,428,156
1,585,388
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
4,851,581
3,266,193
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
7,279,737
4,851,581
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 16 -
1
Accounting policies
Company information

Fluidmaster UK Limited (“the company”) is a private limited company domiciled and incorporated in England and Wales. The registered office is Twyford Road, Rotherwas Industrial Estate, Hereford, HR2 6JR.

The group consists of Fluidmaster UK Limited and all of its subsidiaries.

1.1
Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (“FRS 102”) and the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the company. Monetary a mounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires Group management to exercise judgement in applying the Group's accounting policies.

The company has taken advantage of the exemption allowed under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not presented its own Statement of Comprehensive Income in these financial statements.

1.2
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements present the results of the Company and its own subsidiaries ("the Group) as if they form a single entity, with the exception of LIV Mont d.o.o, Sarajevo and Fluidmaster GmbH whose results are excluded on the basis that they are immaterial to the results of the group as a whole. Intercompany transactions and balances between group companies are therefore eliminated in full,

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of the business combinations using the purchase method. In the balance sheet, the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are initially recognised at at their fair values at the acquisition date. The results of the acquired operations are included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income from the date on which control is obtained. They are deconsolidated from the date control ceases,

In accordance with the transitional exemption available in FRS 102, the group has chosen not to retrospectively apply the standard to business combinations that occurred before the date of transition to FRS 102, being 01 January 2014.

Parent Company disclosure exemptions

In preparing the separate financial statements of the Parent Company, advantage has been taken of the following disclosure exemptions available in FRS 102:

- Only on reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and end of the period has been presented as the reconciliations for the Group and the parent company would be identical;

- No cashflow statement has been presented for the Parent Company;

- Disclosures in respect of the Parent Company's financial instruments and share-based payment arrangements have not been presented as equivalent disclosures have been provided in respect of the Group as a whole; and

- No disclosure has been given for the aggregate number remuneration of the key management personnel of the Parent Company as their remuneration is included in the totals for the Group as a whole.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
1
Accounting policies
(Continued)
- 17 -
1.3
Going concern

The group has expanded through a number of acquisitions in recent years which have been funded by the ultimate parent company (Fluidmaster Inc.) through intercompany balances. This funding has no formal repayment terms and has therefore been classified as falling due within one year in the consolidated and company balance sheets. At 31 December 202 3 intercompany borrowings financing the group were £73.1 m of which £60.8 m were due from the company.

The Board of Directors has undertaken a recent thorough review of the groups' budgets and forecasts and has produced detailed and realistic cashflow projections. The company has continued support from the Group and ultimate parent Company Fluidmaster Inc and the ultimate parent company has provided written confirmation that it will provide financial support, if required, to enable the company to meet its liabilities as they fall due for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements. There is worldwide group line credit facility of $104.3 m, of which $97.5 m remains unused. This level of cash and support is considered enough to meet the worst case stress test scenario, where by trading cashflows are reduced, despite the current increase in demand. These cash flow projections when considered in conjunction with the company's existing cash balances and support from the group, demonstrate that the company has sufficient working capital for the foreseeable future.

The directors of the ultimate parent company recognise that the group (and company) is not able to continue to trade and pay its debts as they fall due for payment unless these intercompany balances are retained and / or alternative funding is put in place. Therefore the ultimate parent company has provided the directors of the company with written confirmation that: (1) Repayment of the intercompany balances noted above will not be requested for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements unless the group has sufficient financial resources available to make full or partial repayments and (2) Any financial support required to enable the group (and company) to continue to trade and pay debts as they fall due for payment will be made available to the group (and company) by the ultimate parent company for a period of not less than 12 months from the date of the signing of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 20 23. However, it is noted that this support has not been provided in the form of a legally binding arrangement and therefore is at the discretion of the ultimate parent company.

The lack of a legally binding commitment from the ultimate parent company is not considered by the directors to indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the group and parent company's ability to continue as a going concern.

1.4
Turnover

All of the company's contracts with customers contain a single performance obligation, recognised at a point in time and consist of toilet trim and relevant plumbing products. Revenue is recognised when control of the product transfers to the customer, generally upon product shipment. The company extends credit to its customers based upon an evaluation of the customers financial condition and credit history and generally does not require collateral. Credit losses are provided for in the consolidated financial statements and consistently have been within managements expectations. The company's payment terms are generally between 30 and 60 days, however certain customers are granted promotional volume discounts and extended payment terms up to 180 days. The company has not experienced significant returns or write-offs associated with these programs. Revenues are recorded net of estimated adjustments related to certain advertising and sales discounts, rebates and estimated returns. The company recognises cash consideration, including sales incentives, given by the Company to a customer, as a reduction of the selling price of the Company's products and a reduction of revenue when recognised in the company's consolidated statement of income.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
1
Accounting policies
(Continued)
- 18 -
1.5
Intangible fixed assets - goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of a business over the fair value of net assets acquired. It is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is considered to have a finite useful life and is amortised on a systematic basis over a 10 - 20 year period.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units expected to benefit from the acquisition. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment at least annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

1.6
Intangible fixed assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are recognised at cost and are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired on business combinations are recognised separately from goodwill at the acquisition date where it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the fair value of the asset can be measured reliably; the intangible asset arises from contractual or other legal rights; and the intangible asset is separable from the entity.

Amortisation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their useful lives on the following bases:

Software
5 - 15 years
Customer relationships
5 - 10 years
1.7
Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or valuation, net of depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over their useful lives on the following bases:

Leasehold improvements
Over the term of the lease
Machinery and moulds
3 - 12 years
Fixtures and fittings
3 - 10 years
Motor vehicles
5 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying value of the asset, and is recognised in the profit and loss account.

1.8
Fixed asset investments

Investments in subsidiary undertakings and group undertakings are stated at cost less any provision for impairment.

Group other investments are measured at fair value.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
1
Accounting policies
(Continued)
- 19 -
1.9
Impairment of fixed assets

At each reporting period end date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

The carrying amount of the investments accounted for using the equity method is tested for impairment as a single asset. Any goodwill included in the carrying amount of the investment is not tested separately for impairment.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Recognised impairment losses are reversed if, and only if, the reasons for the impairment loss have ceased to apply. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.10
Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the stocks to their present location and condition.

Stocks held for distribution at no or nominal consideration are measured at the lower of cost and replacement cost, adjusted where applicable for any loss of service potential.

At each reporting date, an assessment is made for impairment. Any excess of the carrying amount of stocks over its estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell is recognised as an impairment loss in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses are also recognised in profit or loss.

1.11
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are basic financial assets and include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

1.12
Financial instruments
Basic financial assets

Basic financial assets, which include debtors and cash and bank balances, are initially measured at transaction price including transaction costs and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest m ethod unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial assets classified as receivable within one year are not amortised.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
1
Accounting policies
(Continued)
- 20 -
Basic financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including creditors, bank loans, loans from fellow group companies and preference shares that are classified as debt, are initially recognised at transaction price unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future paymen ts discounted at a market rate of interest. Financial liabilities classified as payable within one year are not amortised.

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Amounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade creditors are recognised initially at transaction price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the group's contractual obligations expire or are discharged or cancelled.

1.13
Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs. Dividends payable on equity instruments are recognised as liabilities once they are no longer at the discretion of the group.

1.14
Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the profit and loss account because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting end date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all timing differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the timing difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting end date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit and loss account, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if, and only if, there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
1
Accounting policies
(Continued)
- 21 -
1.15
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or constructive present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting end date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount expected to be required to settle the obligation is recognised at present value. When a provision i s measured at present value, the unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

1.16
Retirement benefits

The Group operates defined contribution pension schemes for its employees in the territories it operates in, where benefits are based upon contributions, and assets are held in a separate trustee administered fund. The cost of providing requirement pensions and related benefits is charged against profits over the period which benefit from the employees services.

1.17
Leases

Rental s paid under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss on a straight line basis over the lease term.

1.18
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at the fair value of the asset receive d or receivable when there is reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be met and the grants will be received.

A grant that specifies performance conditions is recognised in income when the performance conditions are met. Where a grant does not specify performance conditions it is recognised in income when the proceeds are received or receivable. A grant received before the recognition criteria are satisfied is recognised as a liability.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
1
Accounting policies
(Continued)
- 22 -
1.19
Foreign exchange

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the rates ruling when they occurred. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Any differences are taken to profit and loss and recognised within other operating expenses.

Non-monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction and non-monetary items measured at fair value are measured using the exchange rate when fair value was determined.

On consolidation, the results of the overseas operations, except those in Hyperinflationary economies, are translated into Sterling at rates approximating to those ruling when transactions took place. All assets and liabilities of overseas operations are translated at the rate ruling at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on translating the opening net assets at opening rate and the results of overseas operations at actual rate are recognised in other comprehensive income. Companies in hyperflationary economies are subject to the policy detailed below.

Hyperinflationary Economies

The Turkish economy was designated as hyperinflationary from 1 July 2022. As a result the application of FRS102 section 31 has been applied to the subsidiary whose functional currency is the Turkish Lira. The application of section 31 includes :

- Adjustment of historical cost non-monetary assets and liabilities for the change in purchasing power caused by inflation from the date of intitial recognition to the balance sheet date;

- adjustment of the profit and loss account for inflation during the reporting period;

- translation of the profit and loss account at the period end foreign exchange rate instead of an average rate; and

- adjustment of the profit and loss accounts to reflect the impact of inflation and exchange rate movement on holding monetary assets and liabilities in local currency.

1.20

Research and Development

Any research and development costs are written off to the profit and loss account as incurred.

2
Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the group’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised where the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods where the revision affects both current and future periods.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
2
Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
- 23 -
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are as follows.

Product liability provision (estimate)

The group has made a provision for claims received amounting to £460,066 in respect of failure of a product incorporating a specific component,all manufactured in years prior to 2012. The directors have valued the provision based on their estimate of the most likely value of future payments. In making their assessment, the directors have considered factors such as the number and value of actual claims received to date, average settlement amounts paid to settle claims, the level of insurance coverage in place and an estimate of the volume of claims to be received. A discount rate of 3.50% has been applied for the purposes of valuing the provision, based on the group borrowing rate.

Goodwill and intangible assets arising on acquistion (estimate)

Where a business combination occurs, the directors consider the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired, including an assessment of intangible assets, with goodwill recognised as the excess of the cost of the business combination over the fair value of the group's share of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary at the date of acquisition. In making this assessment, the directors determine which intangible assets can be separately identified and whether their fair value can be measured reliably. The value of customer relationships amounting to £nil was valued using a discounted cash flow model of expected returns and has been amortised since.

Impairment assessment of goodwill (estimate)

The group evaluates goodwill on an annual basis or more frequently if management believes indicators of impairment exist. During the year ended 31 December 202 3, the company had no impairment of goodwill.

Impairment assessment of investments (estimate)

The main driver for the net liability position of the group balance sheet is the loan due to Fluidmaster Inc, which is not expected to be recalled in the near future. This was to assist with the funding of all of the acquisitions. Each entity is creating a profit and positive cashflows from operations which have improved since acquisition. There continues to be capital asset acquisition but this is due to expansion as the European presence continues to grow, Therefore no provision for impairment has been included in the year ended 31 December 202 3.

Stock (Estimate)

At reach reporting date, Stock is assessed for impairment. If stock is impaired, the carrying amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to sell. The impairment loss amounting to £1,000,227 is recognised immediately in profit and loss.

3
Turnover and other revenue
2023
2022
£
£
Turnover analysed by geographical market
Europe
72,788,201
71,181,919
United Kingdom
17,139,162
18,523,210
Rest of the world
7,025,023
6,517,972
96,952,386
96,223,101
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
3
Turnover and other revenue
(Continued)
- 24 -
2023
2022
£
£
Other revenue
Interest income
235,934
350,975
Grants received
82,960
145,876
Rents receivable
25,381
22,566
Sundry income
232,538
212,754
Profit from disposal of fixed assets
(149,108)
23,417
4
Auditor's remuneration
2023
2022
Fees payable to the company's auditor and associates:
£
£
For audit services
Audit of the financial statements of the group and company
45,000
45,000

Audit fees in relation to the audit of the Parent Company are £45,000 (202 3: £45,000).

5
Employees

The average monthly number of persons (including directors) employed by the group and company during the year was:

Group
Company
2023
2022
2023
2022
Number
Number
Number
Number
Production
566
681
-
-
Administration
117
98
-
-
Sales
59
71
-
-
Total
742
850
0
0

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Group
Company
2023
2022
2023
2022
£
£
£
£
Wages and salaries
18,304,337
18,590,467
-
0
-
0
Social security costs
1,564,181
1,535,951
-
0
-
0
Pension costs
771,695
901,716
-
0
-
0
20,640,213
21,028,134
-
0
-
0

Company:

The company has no employees other than directors, who did not receive any remuneration (202 2: £nil)

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 25 -
6
Operating profit
2023
2022
£
£
Operating profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting):
Government grants
(82,960)
(145,876)
Depreciation of owned tangible fixed assets
1,651,163
2,092,212
Amortisation of intangible assets
1,826,028
2,163,556
Operating lease charges
2,638,898
2,536,483
7
Interest receivable and similar income
2023
2022
£
£
Interest income
Interest receivable from group companies
235,934
350,975
2023
2022
Investment income includes the following:
£
£
Interest on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss
235,934
350,975
8
Directors' remuneration
2023
2022
£
£

No director received any remuneration paid by the company during the current year (202 2 - £Nil). The directors are remunerated by the ultimate parent company.

9
Interest payable and similar expenses
2023
2022
£
£
Interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Other interest payable
189,739
192,088
Interest payable to group undertakings
2,078,719
2,206,116
2,268,458
2,398,204
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 26 -
10
Taxation
2023
2022
£
£
Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the current period
819,617
724,185
Adjustments in respect of prior periods
-
0
1,889
Total UK current tax
819,617
726,074
Foreign current tax on profits for the current period
1,343,290
1,224,300
Total current tax
2,162,907
1,950,374
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences
-
0
(854)
Total tax charge
2,162,907
1,949,520

The actual charge for the year can be reconciled to the expected charge for the year based on the profit or loss and the standard rate of tax as follows:

2023
2022
£
£
Profit before taxation
6,231,912
4,131,965
Expected tax charge based on the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 23.50% (2022: 19.00%)
1,464,499
785,073
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit
719,297
932,169
Adjustments in respect of prior years
(44,587)
1,889
Effect of change in corporation tax rate
23,698
205,524
Deferred tax in respect of losses not recognised
-
0
24,865
Taxation charge
2,162,907
1,949,520
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 27 -
11
Intangible fixed assets
Group
Goodwill
Software
Customer relationships
Total
£
£
£
£
Cost
At 1 January 2023
30,892,815
9,385,634
9,415,280
49,693,729
Additions
-
0
10,605
-
0
10,605
Disposals
-
0
(250,405)
-
0
(250,405)
Exchange adjustments
-
0
(149,549)
-
0
(149,549)
At 31 December 2023
30,892,815
8,996,285
9,415,280
49,304,380
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2023
21,204,221
7,832,997
9,415,280
38,452,498
Amortisation charged for the year
1,747,913
78,115
-
0
1,826,028
Disposals
-
0
(158,069)
-
0
(158,069)
Exchange adjustments
-
0
(156,189)
-
0
(156,189)
At 31 December 2023
22,952,134
7,596,854
9,415,280
39,964,268
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2023
7,940,681
1,399,431
-
0
9,340,112
At 31 December 2022
9,688,594
1,552,637
-
0
11,241,231
The company had no intangible fixed assets at 31 December 2023 or 31 December 2022.
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 28 -
12
Tangible fixed assets
Group
Leasehold improvements
Assets under construction
Machinery and moulds
Fixtures and fittings
Motor vehicles
Total
£
£
£
£
£
£
Cost
At 1 January 2023
2,349,845
2,218,566
52,323,732
4,366,065
773,616
62,031,824
Additions
16,081
1,004,294
3,487,280
97,333
630
4,605,618
Disposals
(217,050)
(187,618)
(2,205,005)
(80,332)
(102,216)
(2,792,221)
Exchange adjustments
(15,985)
(402,736)
(720,199)
71,551
86,744
(980,625)
At 31 December 2023
2,132,891
2,632,506
52,885,808
4,454,617
758,774
62,864,596
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2023
1,884,141
-
0
43,699,205
3,462,099
637,889
49,683,334
Depreciation charged in the year
116,926
-
0
1,269,586
195,132
69,519
1,651,163
Eliminated in respect of disposals
(138,161)
-
0
(1,085,472)
(49,251)
(96,685)
(1,369,569)
Exchange adjustments
(6,428)
-
0
(533,631)
(556,098)
67,756
(1,028,401)
At 31 December 2023
1,856,478
-
0
43,349,688
3,051,882
678,479
48,936,527
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2023
276,413
2,632,506
9,536,120
1,402,735
80,295
13,928,069
At 31 December 2022
465,704
2,218,566
8,624,527
903,966
135,727
12,348,490
The company had no tangible fixed assets at 31 December 2023 or 31 December 2022.
13
Fixed asset investments
Group
Company
2023
2022
2023
2022
Notes
£
£
£
£
Investments in subsidiaries
14
21,123
21,528
60,685,924
60,685,924
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
13
Fixed asset investments
(Continued)
- 29 -
Movements in fixed asset investments
Group
Shares in subsidiaries
£
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2023
21,528
Valuation changes
(405)
At 31 December 2023
21,123
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2023
21,123
At 31 December 2022
21,528
Movements in fixed asset investments
Company
Shares in subsidiaries
£
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023
63,755,612
Impairment
At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023
3,069,688
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2023
60,685,924
At 31 December 2022
60,685,924
14
Subsidiaries

Details of the company's subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

Name of undertaking
Registered office
Class of
% Held
shares held
Direct
Fluidmaster GB Limited
United Kingdom
Ordinary
100.00
CMI Distribution Limited
United Kingdom
Ordinary
100.00
Fluidmaster Predelava Plastike d.o.o.
Slovenia
Ordinary
100.00
Key Teknik Yapi Malzemleri San. Ve T .c,
Turkey
Ordinary
100.00
Fluidmaster Netherlands B. V.
The Netherlands
Ordinary
100.00
Wisa Baheer B.V.**
The Netherlands
Ordinary
100.00
Schwab FZE
United Arab Emirates
Ordinary
100.00
Wisa GmbH**
The Netherlands
Ordinary
100.00
Conweco Sro.**
Slovakia
Ordinary
100.00
Torbeck Control Valves Limited
United Kingom
Ordinary
100.00
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
14
Subsidiaries
(Continued)
- 30 -

*held indirectly. The shares of these companies are held by Fluidmaster Predelva Plastike d.o.o Slovenia.

**held indirectly. The shares of these companies are held by Fluidmaster Netherlands B.V.

15
Stocks
Group
Company
2023
2022
2023
2022
£
£
£
£
Raw materials and consumables
5,627,156
7,180,984
-
0
-
0
Work in progress
1,669,624
1,368,913
-
-
Finished goods and goods for resale
10,010,008
13,812,722
-
0
-
0
17,306,788
22,362,619
-
0
-
0

An impairment loss of £1,000,227 (202 2: £815,614) was recognised in cost of sales against stock during the year to slow moving and obsolete inventory,

16
Debtors
Group
Company
2023
2022
2023
2022
Amounts falling due within one year:
£
£
£
£
Trade debtors
11,789,385
12,584,013
-
0
-
0
Amounts owed by group undertakings
2,882,951
1,210,295
2,559,752
2,461,823
Other debtors
8,010,727
8,290,035
-
0
-
0
22,683,063
22,084,343
2,559,752
2,461,823

Amounts owed by group undertakings are considered interest free and repayable on demand.

17
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Group
Company
2023
2022
2023
2022
£
£
£
£
Trade creditors
5,818,937
7,323,714
-
0
-
0
Amounts owed to group undertakings
68,940,487
68,536,231
60,738,611
62,827,420
Corporation tax payable
132,470
34,619
-
0
-
0
Other taxation and social security
5,647,899
4,540,432
-
-
Other creditors
3,262,375
2,096,630
1,931,693
1,800,259
Accruals and deferred income
2,921,014
6,116,508
114,218
94,885
86,723,182
88,648,134
62,784,522
64,722,564
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
17
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
(Continued)
- 31 -

There is no fixed date for repayment of the majority of the amount due to the parent company, but the parent company has confirmed that repayment will not be required at least 12 months from the date of the approval of the financial statements. Interest is being applied at 5% per annum (which is considered to be the market rate) but is added to the amount of loan rather than being repaid.

18
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Group
Company
2023
2022
2023
2022
£
£
£
£
Amounts owed to group undertakings
4,013,639
5,368,487
-
0
-
0
19
Provisions for liabilities
Group
Company
2023
2022
2023
2022
£
£
£
£
460,066
528,105
-
-
381,276
375,551
-
-
841,342
903,656
-
-
Movements on provisions:
Total
Group
£
£
£
At 1 January 2023
528,105
375,551
903,656
Additional provisions in the year
-
141,882
141,882
Utilisation of provision
(65,631)
-
(65,631)
Exchange difference
(2,408)
(136,157)
(138,565)
At 31 December 2023
460,066
381,276
841,342
FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
19
Provisions for liabilities
(Continued)
- 32 -

During 2012 one of the groups subsidiary companies, Fluidmaster GB Limited, encountered an unusual incidence of claims in respect of a failure of product incorporating a specific component, all manufactured in years prior to 2012. Claims of this type were covered by third party insurance up to 6 March 2013 which reduced the impact of the claims received but the Company is now liable for the entire loss on future claims because the Company now self-insures these losses. The provision recognised is the Directors best estimate of the Groups liability based on the information available, although they recognise the actual liability could be substantially different to the current provision.

The directors are not aware of the exact cause of the product failure, the dates of manufacture for failed products or the number of products installed in the field and the reason for low level of claims actually received to date and therefore consider that it is possible that future claims could range from negligible value from to as much as £4m. The directors have included a provision at the amount specified as the most likely value of future payments based on information available to date. The incidence of claims will continue to be monitored and the provision established will be considered in future years as evidence of the level of claims received becomes available. The directors note that changes were made in the manufacturing process to remove the product failure issue.

The provision for retirement and long service payments relates to Fluidmaster Predelava Plastike d.o.o. In accordance with Slovenian legislation, employees are entitled to a one-off retirement severance payment, payable in a single instalment, and a 'jubilee' bonus payable for every 10 years of service completed. The provision has been calculated by a certified actuary based on the number of employees and total length of service at the balance sheet date and incorporating estimates around staff turnover and the size of the bonus payments to be made.

20
Deferred taxation

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group and company, and movements thereon:

Liabilities
Liabilities
2023
2022
Group
£
£
Accelerated capital allowances
385,440
385,440
The company has no deferred tax assets or liabilities.
There were no deferred tax movements in the year.
21
Retirement benefit schemes
2023
2022
Defined contribution schemes
£
£
Charge to profit or loss in respect of defined contribution schemes
771,695
901,716

The group operates defined contributions pension schemes in the territories it operates in. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds. Contributions totaling £113,317 (202 2: £203,265) were payable to the fund at the reporting date.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 33 -
22
Share capital
Group and company
2023
2022
2023
2022
Ordinary share capital
Number
Number
£
£
Issued and fully paid
Ordinary shares of £1 each
1
1
1
1

There is a single class of ordinary shares. There are no restrictions on dividends and the repayment of capital beyond those in company law.

23
Reserves
Share premium

The Share Premium account includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares is deducted from share premium.

Profit and loss account

The profit and loss account includes all current and prior period retained profits and losses.

24
Capital commitments

Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements:

Group
Company
2023
2022
2023
2022
£
£
£
£
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets
1,924,288
3,101,960
-
-
25
Operating lease commitments
Lessee

At the reporting end date the group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Group
Company
2023
2022
2023
2022
£
£
£
£
Within one year
1,187,991
1,979,097
-
-
Between two and five years
1,644,330
2,728,327
-
-
2,832,321
4,707,424
-
-

The Company had no operating lease commitments at 31 December 2023 or 31 December 2022.

FLUIDMASTER UK LIMITED
NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
- 34 -
26
Related party transactions

The Group and Company has taken advantage of exemption, under the terms of Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland' not to disclose related party transactions with other group companies.

The total compensation paid by the Company to key management personnel for services provided to the Company for the year was £281,684 (202 2: £192,817).

27
Controlling party

The company is a subsidiary of Fluidmaster Inc, which is the ultimate parent company incorporated in the United States of America,

The largest and smallest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by Fluidmaster Inc., incorporated in the United States of America. The consolidated accounts of this Company are not available to the public. No other group accounts include the results of the company.

28
Analysis of changes in net funds - group
1 January 2023
Cash flows
31 December 2023
£
£
£
Cash at bank and in hand
4,851,581
2,428,156
7,279,737
29
Cash generated from group operations
2023
2022
£
£
Profit after taxation
4,069,005
2,182,445
Adjustments for:
Taxation charged
2,162,907
1,949,520
Finance costs
2,268,458
2,398,204
Investment income
(235,934)
(350,975)
Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets
1,514,988
-
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets
1,826,028
2,163,556
Depreciation and impairment of tangible fixed assets
1,651,163
2,092,212
Foreign exchange gains on cash equivalents
(3,270,367)
(209,603)
Other gains and losses
141,882
65,132
(Decrease)/increase in provisions
(65,631)
111,350
Movements in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in stocks
5,055,831
(5,338,177)
Increase in debtors
(553,372)
(879,228)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors
(3,279,800)
4,680,957
Cash generated from operations
11,285,158
8,865,393
2023-12-31 2023-01-01 false false CCH Software CCH Accounts Production 2025.200 Mrs C Andersonschoepe Mr WE Oppenlander Mr R Andersonschoepe false 07726343 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:Director1 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:Director3 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:Director2 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:RegisteredOffice 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:Consolidated 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 07726343 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 07726343 core:RetainedEarningsAccumulatedLosses bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:RetainedEarningsAccumulatedLosses bus:Consolidated 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 07726343 core:Goodwill bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Goodwill bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:IntangibleAssetsOtherThanGoodwill bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:IntangibleAssetsOtherThanGoodwill bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:ComputerSoftware bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Non-standardIntangibleAssetClass1ComponentIntangibleAssetsOtherThanGoodwill bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:ComputerSoftware bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:Non-standardIntangibleAssetClass1ComponentIntangibleAssetsOtherThanGoodwill bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:LeaseholdImprovements bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:ConstructionInProgressAssetsUnderConstruction bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:PlantMachinery bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:FurnitureFittings bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:MotorVehicles bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:LeaseholdImprovements bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:ConstructionInProgressAssetsUnderConstruction bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:PlantMachinery bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:FurnitureFittings bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:MotorVehicles bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 2022-12-31 07726343 core:ShareCapital bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:ShareCapital bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:SharePremium bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:SharePremium bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:RetainedEarningsAccumulatedLosses bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:RetainedEarningsAccumulatedLosses bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:ShareCapital 2023-12-31 07726343 core:ShareCapital 2022-12-31 07726343 core:SharePremium 2023-12-31 07726343 core:SharePremium 2022-12-31 07726343 core:RetainedEarningsAccumulatedLosses 2023-12-31 07726343 core:RetainedEarningsAccumulatedLosses 2022-12-31 07726343 core:ShareCapital bus:Consolidated 2021-12-31 07726343 core:SharePremium bus:Consolidated 2021-12-31 07726343 2021-12-31 07726343 core:ShareCapital 2021-12-31 07726343 core:SharePremium 2021-12-31 07726343 core:RetainedEarningsAccumulatedLosses 2021-12-31 07726343 bus:Consolidated 2021-12-31 07726343 core:Goodwill 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:IntangibleAssetsOtherThanGoodwill 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:ComputerSoftware 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Non-standardIntangibleAssetClass1ComponentIntangibleAssetsOtherThanGoodwill 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:LeaseholdImprovements 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:PlantMachinery 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:FurnitureFittings 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:MotorVehicles 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:UKTax bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:UKTax bus:Consolidated 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 07726343 core:ForeignTax bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:ForeignTax bus:Consolidated 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 07726343 bus:Consolidated 1 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:Consolidated 1 2022-01-01 2022-12-31 07726343 core:Goodwill bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:ComputerSoftware bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:Non-standardIntangibleAssetClass1ComponentIntangibleAssetsOtherThanGoodwill bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:Goodwill core:ExternallyAcquiredIntangibleAssets bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:ComputerSoftware core:ExternallyAcquiredIntangibleAssets bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Non-standardIntangibleAssetClass1ComponentIntangibleAssetsOtherThanGoodwill core:ExternallyAcquiredIntangibleAssets bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:ExternallyAcquiredIntangibleAssets bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Goodwill bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:ComputerSoftware bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Non-standardIntangibleAssetClass1ComponentIntangibleAssetsOtherThanGoodwill bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:LeaseholdImprovements bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:ConstructionInProgressAssetsUnderConstruction bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:PlantMachinery bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:FurnitureFittings bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:MotorVehicles bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:LeaseholdImprovements bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:ConstructionInProgressAssetsUnderConstruction bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:PlantMachinery bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:FurnitureFittings bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:MotorVehicles bus:Consolidated 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary1 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary2 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary3 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary4 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary5 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary6 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary7 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary8 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary9 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary10 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary1 1 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary2 2 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary3 3 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary4 4 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary5 5 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary6 6 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary7 7 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary8 8 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary9 9 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Subsidiary10 10 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 core:CurrentFinancialInstruments 2023-12-31 07726343 core:CurrentFinancialInstruments 2022-12-31 07726343 core:CurrentFinancialInstruments core:WithinOneYear bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:CurrentFinancialInstruments core:WithinOneYear bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:CurrentFinancialInstruments core:WithinOneYear 2023-12-31 07726343 core:CurrentFinancialInstruments core:WithinOneYear 2022-12-31 07726343 core:Non-currentFinancialInstruments core:AfterOneYear bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Non-currentFinancialInstruments core:AfterOneYear bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 core:Non-currentFinancialInstruments core:AfterOneYear 2023-12-31 07726343 core:Non-currentFinancialInstruments core:AfterOneYear 2022-12-31 07726343 core:CurrentFinancialInstruments bus:Consolidated 2023-12-31 07726343 core:CurrentFinancialInstruments bus:Consolidated 2022-12-31 07726343 bus:PrivateLimitedCompanyLtd 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:FRS102 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:Audited 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:ConsolidatedGroupCompanyAccounts 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 07726343 bus:FullAccounts 2023-01-01 2023-12-31 xbrli:pure xbrli:shares iso4217:GBP